## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FORE STARS, LTD., a Nevada Limited Liability Company; 180 Land Co., LLC, A Nevada Limited Liability Company; and SEVENTY ACRES, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Appellants,

v.

DANIEL OMERZA; DARREN BRESEE; AND STEVE CARIA,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 87354 District Court Case No. A771224 Electronically Filed Mar 15 2024 09:16 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

SKLAR WILLIAMS PLLC Stephen R. Hackett, Esq., Bar No. 5010 410 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 350 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Telephone: (702) 360-6000 Facsimile: (702) 360-0000 shackett@sklar-law.com

-and-

I

1	I.	STA	TEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED
2		1.	Whether the district court erred in awarding the Residents attorney
3 4			fees pursuant to NRS 41.670 under an unwritten contingency fee
5			agreement?
6		2.	Whether the district court abused its discretion and failed to properly
7 8			apply the Brunzell factors in awarding attorney fees?
9	II.	STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE
10		А.	<u>The Parties</u> .
11 12		Appe	ellants Fore Stars, Ltd., 180 Land Co., LLC, and Seventy Acres, LLC,
12	(colle	ectivel	y "Appellants" or "Landowners") are developing approximately 250
14	acres	of lar	nd they own and control in Las Vegas, Nevada formerly known as the
15	Badl	ands (	Golf Course property (hereinafter the "Land"). <sup>1</sup> See Joint Appendix
16 17	("AP	P") 3.	They already have the absolute right to develop the Land under its
18	prese	ent RD	P 7 zoning, which means that up to 7.49 dwelling units per acre may be
19	const	tructed	on it. See APP 0003-0004. The Land is adjacent to the Queensridge
20	Com	mon I	nterest Community ("Queensridge") which was created and organized
21 22	unde	r the p	provisions of NRS Chapter 116. See APP 0003-0007. Respondents
23		1	
24	open their	<sup>1</sup> Giv ing bri actual	en the number of parties in the underlying litigation, references in this ef to them will mostly be to the designations used in the district court, names, or descriptive terms such as "Landowners" for Appellants or
25 26	Res litiga	idents' tion.	for Respondents as they have referred to themselves in the underlying References to "Appellants" and "Respondents" will be kept to a
27 28	minif expe "appointed the let	mum. cted to ellant" ower c	See NRAP 28(d)("In briefs and at oral argument, parties will be be keep to a minimum references to parties by such designations as and "respondent." It promotes clarity to use the designations used in court or the actual names of parties, or descriptive terms such as "the "the injured person," etc.").

Daniel Omerza ("Omerza"), Darren Bresee ("Bresee"), and Steve Caria ("Caria") (collectively "Respondents" or "Residents") are certain residents of Queensridge who strongly oppose any development of the Land. *See* APP 0002. Rather than properly participate in the political process, however, the Residents used unjust and unlawful tactics to sabotage the Landowners' development rights and their livelihoods. *See* APP 0001-00095. They did so despite having received and being bound by prior, express written notice that, among other things, the Land is developable and any views or location advantages they have enjoyed may be obstructed by future development. *See* APP 0003-0007.

## B. <u>The Landowners' Complaint</u>.

In May 2018, the Landowners filed their complaint, alleging intentional and negligent interference with prospective economic advantage, intentional and negligent misrepresentation, and civil conspiracy. See APP 0001-0095. These claims are based on the fact that the Residents executed purchase agreements when they purchased their residences which expressly acknowledged their receipt of: (1) Master Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements for Queensridge ("Queensridge Master Declaration" or "CC&Rs"), recorded in 1996; (2) Notice of Zoning Designation of Adjoining Lot disclosing that the Land was zoned RPD 7; (3) Additional Disclosures Section 4 - No Golf Course or Membership Privileges stating Residents acquired no rights in the Badlands Golf Course; (4) Additional Disclosure Section 7 – Views/Location Advantages stating 

1	that future construction in the planned community may obstruct or block any view
2	or diminish any location advantage; and (5) Public Offering Statement for
3	Queensridge Towers which included these same disclaimers. See APP 0003-0007.
4 5	Additionally, the deeds to the Residents' respective residences "are clear by
6 7	their respective terms that they have no rights to affect or control the use of [the
7 8	Landowners'] real property." See id. The Residents nevertheless promulgated,
9	solicited, circulated, and executed the following declaration ("Declaration") to
10	their Queensridge neighbors in March 2018:
11	TO: City of Las Vegas
12	The Undersigned purchased a residence/lot in Queensridge which is
13	located within the Peccole Ranch Master Planned Community.
14	The undersigned made such purchase in reliance upon the fact that the
15	open space/natural drainage system could not be developed pursuant to the City's Approval in 1990 of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan and
16	subsequent formal actions designating the open space/natural drainage system in its General Plan as Parks Recreation – Open Space which land use designation does not permit the building of residential units.
17	At the time of purchase, the undersigned paid a significant lot
18 19	premium to the original developer as consideration for the open space/natural drainage system APP 0018.
20	
21	The Residents did so at the behest of Frank Schreck, a neighbor and local
22	attorney, who prepared the contents of the Declaration based on a district court
23	order that was later reversed by this Court and then lobbied Omerza, Bresee, and
24	Caria to circulate and solicit signatures on copies of the Declaration as part of a
25	plan to substage the Landowners' development of the Land 2 Sec ADD 0002 0016
26	plan to sabotage the Landowners' development of the Land. <sup>2</sup> See APP 0002-0016,
27	
28	<sup>2</sup> Binion v City of Las Vegas et al., Hon. Jim Crockett, Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct. Case No. A-17-752344-J, January 11, 2018. The district court's order
	3

1 The Residents joined Schreck and participated in the plan despite 1847-1865. 2 having received prior, express written notice that (i) the CC&Rs do not apply to the 3 Land, (ii) the Landowners have the absolute right to develop the Land based solely 4 on the RPD 7 zoning, and (iii) any views and/or locations advantages they enjoyed 5 6 See APP 0003-0006, 0020-0095. could be obstructed in the future. In 7 promulgating, soliciting, circulating, and executing the Declaration, the Residents 8 also disregarded other, publicly available district court orders applying to their 9 10 similarly-situated neighbors in Queensridge which expressly found that: (i) the 11 Landowners have complied with all relevant provisions of NRS Chapter 278 and 12 properly followed procedures for approval of a parcel map over their property; (ii) 13 14 Queensridge is governed by NRS Chapter 116 and not NRS Chapter 278A because 15 the Land is not within a planned unit development; (iii) the Land is not subject to 16 the CC&Rs, and the Landowners' applications to develop the Land are not 17 prohibited by, or violative of, them; (iv) Queensridge residents have no vested 18 19 rights in the Land; (v) the Landowners' development applications are legal and 20 proper; (vi) the Landowners have the absolute right to close the golf course and not 21 water it; (vii) the Land is not open space and drainage because it is zoned RPD 7; 22 23 and (viii) the Landowners have the absolute right to develop the Land because 24 zoning – not the Peccole Ranch Conceptual Master Plan – dictates its use and the 25 26

("Crocket decision" or "Binion case") was later reversed by this Court. See Seventy Acres v. Binion, Case No. 75481 (August 26, 2020).

27

Landowners' rights to develop it.<sup>3</sup> *See id*. The Residents further ignored another district court order dismissing claims based on findings that similarly contradicted the statements in the Residents' declarations. *See id*.

Moreover, and perhaps more importantly, these Residents, along with all of the residents within Queensridge, do not and could not live in the Peccole Ranch Master Planned Community as their executed declarations provide. *See* 0001-0095. They do not pay dues to the Peccole Ranch Master Planned Community, they did not execute any documents providing they are within the Peccole Ranch Master Planned Community and there is no mention of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan on their deeds, title, or other any other recorded instrument against their property. *See id*.

In sum, the Complaint alleges that the Residents have intentionally and/or
 negligently participated in multiple concerted actions such as "preparation,
 promulgation, circulation, solicitation and execution" of false statements and/or
 declarations for the purpose of conjuring up sham opposition to the development of

<sup>Attached to the Complaint are two (2) district court orders in</sup> *Peccole v*. *Fore Stars et al.*, case no. A-16-739654-C ("Peccole Litigation"), Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada. *See* APP 20. The Peccoles appealed those district court decisions to the Nevada Supreme Court (Nos. 72410 and 72455). On December 22, 2017, this Court dismissed the appeal in Docket No. 72455 "as to the order entered November 30, 2016" because it lacked jurisdiction over the appeal of the order granting the motion to dismiss. *See* 12/22/17 Order at p. 3. As to the remaining consolidated appeals, this Court issued an order affirming the district court decisions in the Peccole Litigation on October 17, 2018. *See* 10/17/18 Order at p. 5. Also attached to the Complaint is a district court order in *Binion v. Fore Stars et al.*, case no. A-15-729053-B ("Binion/Fore Stars Litigation"), Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada. *See* APP 92.

1 the Land. See 0001-0095. In particular, the Residents fraudulently procured 2 signatures of Queensridge residents by picking and choosing the information they 3 shared with their neighbors in order to manipulate them into signing copies of the 4 Declaration. See id. They simply ignored or disregarded known, material facts 5 6 that directly conflicted with the statements in the Declaration. See id. They did so 7 with the intent to deliver such false statements and/or declarations to the City of 8 Las Vegas ("City") for the improper purpose of presenting a false narrative to 9 10 council members, deceiving them into denying the Landowners' applications and, 11 ultimately, sabotaging the Landowners' development rights and livelihoods. See 12 id. 13 **C**. Frank Schreck's Engagement As Defense Counsel. 14 15 Upon filing of the Complaint, Schreck engaged his firm, Brownstein Hyatt 16 Farber & Schreck LLP, to defend the Residents allegedly on a 'contingency basis,' 17 apparently without a written agreement. See APP 1359. Schreck's firm 18 19 purportedly spent nearly 710 hours working on the case since then at hourly rates 20 upwards of \$875.<sup>4</sup> See APP 1359, 1394-1420, 1899. Defense counsel did so even 21 though the Residents have never asserted any counterclaims and have no other 22 23 affirmative basis for recovery. 24

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Frank Schreck himself billing for 22.6 hours totaling \$19,775 raising ethical concerns whether there was a concurrent conflict of interest under RPC 1.7, arising from Schreck's personal interest in the litigation and under RPC 1.8, with respect to his proprietary interest in the subject matter of the litigation, particularly given the unwritten contingency fee agreement.

## D. <u>The Anti-SLAPP Litigation and the First Appeal.</u>

2 Instead of answering the Complaint, the Residents filed motions to dismiss 3 pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and NRS 41.635 et seq. (Nevada's anti-SLAPP 4 statute). APP 163-197. The district court denied that Motion and the Residents 5 6 appealed to this Court, generating case number 76273 in this Court. See Omerza 7 v. Fore Stars, 2020 WL 406783, at \*6-7 (Jan. 23, 2020) (unpublished disposition). 8 APP 716-728. On January 23, 2020, this Court vacated the order denying the 9 10 Residents' anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss, concluding that the Residents 11 met their burden at step one of the anti-SLAPP analysis. Id. With respect to the 12 step-two burden under NRS 41.660(3)(b), the Court determined that the 13 Landowners had not demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of 14 15 Id. . prevailing on their claims. However, the Court recognized that NRS 16 41.660(4) provides for discovery related to the step-two burden and that the 17 Landowners had alternatively requested such discovery pursuant to the statute. See 18 19 *id.* Because the district court never ruled on the merits of the request, this Court 20 remanded the matter to the district court for resolution of the discovery issue. APP 21 727. 22

23

## E. <u>Remand Proceedings and Initial Attorney Fee Application</u>.

On remand, very limited discovery was permitted and the parties engaged in
supplemental briefing on the Residents' Anti-SLAPP Special Motion to Dismiss.
APP 731-737, 738-748, 750-752, 754-799, 823-829, 830-1216, 1223-1254. The

district court then granted the Residents' Motion to Dismiss. APP 1258-1259, 1260-1272.

The Residents thereafter sought attorney fees and costs under NRS 41.670. 4 See APP 1357-1420. Specifically, the Residents sought an exorbitant \$694,044.00 5 6 and additional monetary relief in the amount of \$10,000.00 each for Omerza, Bresee, and Caria from each Landowner pursuant to NRS 41.670 and NRS 18.010. 8 See APP 1357. The Residents claimed that the nearly 650 hours spent as well as 9 10 their counsels' rates, including Schreck's hourly rate of \$875, were reasonable and 11 that the contingent nature of their fee arrangement merited a fee enhancement 12 equal to 100% of the amount that would have been billed hourly. APP 1359. The 13 landowners opposed the motion because the staggering amount requested was not 14 15 the result of a reasonable lodestar calculation, did not comport with the *Brunzell* 16 factors, and was nothing more than an extortion attempt.<sup>5</sup> APP 1479. The 17 Landowners also made specific challenges to numerous time entries. APP 1480, 18 19 1492-1500, 1575-1591.

20 At the March 31, 2021 hearing on the matter, the Landowners also pointed 21 out that Schreck, a co-conspirator in this case: (1) prepared the contents of the 22 23 Declaration, including the indisputably false statements therein, (2) solicited 24 Omerza, Bresee, and Caria to circulate and solicit signatures on copies of that 25

<sup>5</sup> Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969); 26 see also Herbst v. Humana Health Ins., 105 Nev. 586, 781 P.2d 762 (1989) (noting that after a court determines that attorney fees are appropriate it must then multiply the number of hours reasonably spent on a case by a reasonable hourly rate to 27 reach what is termed the lodestar amount). 28

18

19

## The Second Appeal on Orders Granting Motion to Dismiss and F. **Attorney Fees.**

The Landowner's timely appealed the order dismissing the case and the 20 21 Attorney Fee order. APP 1621-1650. This generated cases 82338 and 82880 22 which were consolidated. On April 29, 2022, this Court affirmed the order 23 dismissing the Landowner's Complaint, but vacated and remanded to the district 24 court on the attorney fee award issue in Docket No. 82880 because the district 25 26 court had not made any analysis of the attorney's fees award. Specifically, the 27 Court stated: "[w]hile the district court has discretion in determining a reasonable 28

Declaration as part of their plan to sabotage the Landowners' development of the Land, (3) thereafter engaged his firm to defend the Residents on a contingency basis, (4) charged an hourly rate of \$875 as part of the Residents' defense, and (5) now sought a windfall for his firm of nearly \$700,000 in attorney fees for a APP 2184-2188, 2195-2196. The Landowners situation entirely of his doing. argued that these facts further demonstrated the unreasonableness of the Residents' attorney fee request. Id.

In an order dated April 14, 2021, the district court nevertheless granted the Residents' motion for attorney fees and costs, concluding that they were entitled to \$363,244.00 based on a lodestar analysis. See APP 1616. The district court did, however, deny the Residents' unprecedented request for the 100% fee enhancement as well as the additional monetary award under NRS 41.670, concluding that both were inappropriate. *Id.* 

award of attorney fees, it did not make the required findings to support the amount awarded here. [Logan v. Abe, 131 Nev.] at 266, 350 P. 3d at 1143 (reviewing an attorney fee award for an abuse of discretion); Miller v. Wilfong, 121 Nev. 619, 623, 119 P.3d 727, 730 (2005) (providing that 'the court must evaluate the factors set forth in *Brunzell'* when exercising its discretion to determine a reasonable amount of attorney fees to award under a statute); see also Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 589, 668 P.2d 268, 274 (1983) (concluding that a district court abuses its discretion if it awards the full amount of attorney fees requested without making 'findings based on evidence that the attorney's fees sought are reasonable and justified')." APP 1655. The Court concluded by holding: "Thus, we agree with appellants that the district court abused its discretion by awarding attorney fees without making the required findings." Id. The Court vacated the award of attorney fees and remanded for the district court to conduct the proper analysis inter alia under Brunzell. APP 1651-1656.

19 20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

# G. <u>The Second Remand Period</u>.

The district court did not set a hearing or ask for any additional briefing from the parties upon remand. On September 19, 2022, the district court entered an order granting the same attorney's fees it previously granted, adding some limited *Brunzell* language. APP 1657-1666. On October 3, 2022, the Landowners filed a Motion to Reconsider the order, addressing several issues that were never resolved or addressed by the district court. APP 1667-1865. The motion noted

28

that the Residents had never produced any written contingency fee agreement, that the Residents had not actually incurred any legal fees, that the statute permitting an award of fees is not intended to reward wrongdoers, that the Landowner's challenges to specific time entries had never been addressed, much less resolved by the district court, that it was improper to award any fees in the absence of any fee agreement or obligation to pay for attorney's fees and that the award of attorney's fees was not reasonable under *Brunzell* and given Schreck's involvement in the misconduct. APP 1668-1674.

The Residents filed an Opposition to this motion on October 17, 2022. APP 1866-1875. They did not produce any written contingency fee agreement. The Landowner's also filed a notice of appeal to the order entered on September 19, 2022. APP 1876-1888. The Landowners filed their Reply to the motion on October 28, 2022, again noting that the fee award cannot be reasonable. APP 1889-1895.

On November 23, 2022 the Residents filed a motion seeking Supplemental Attorney's fees, related to their efforts on the appeal. APP 1896-1908. This application requested an additional \$40,000 in fees for the Residents' work on the appeal. *Id.* The Landowners filed their Opposition on December 23, 2022 and the Residents filed their Reply on January 6, 2023. APP 1909-2089. In their Opposition the Landowners again asserted that the Residents never produced any written fee agreement. APP 1910. The Opposition also asserts, again, that

1 rewarding wrongful conduct is not the intended purpose of the statute. Id. It 2 points out that there are still unresolved specific objections from the first 3 application, that an award of fees is improper without a written contingency fee 4 agreement as required in Nevada, that there is no evidence that the Residents ever 5 6 incurred any legal fees and indeed were never even billed and that it was not 7 reasonable to award fees given the involvement of Schreck's firm in the wrongful 8 conduct. APP 1911-1916. It also challenges the reasonableness of counsel's 9 10 hourly rate, which has increased substantially in this application and points out that 11 fees cannot be awarded where they are not actually incurred. APP 1918-1920. 12 Allegations made in the Residents' Reply caused the Landowners to seek 13 14 leave to file a sur-reply on January 17, 2023. APP 2100-2108. Specifically, the 15 Landowners respond to the Residents' request that counsel be referred to the state 16 bar for making statements "they know are false," and for citing a Texas case in 17 their opposition 'when they know that Nevada follows California's anti-SLAPP 18 19 jurisprudence.' Id. The Motion for leave to file a sur-reply pointed out that the 20 statements about Schreck's involvement are not false and are in fact well 21 documented and that there is no authority for the proposition that Nevada follows 22 23 California only and cannot consider authority in other states regarding fee awards. 24 Id. 25 The Landowner's October 17, 2022 Notice of Appeal of the attorney fee 26 order generated case number 85542 before this Court. While the other motions 27 28

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