IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case Nos.: 87354

Electronically Filed Apr 29 2024 02:20 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

FORE STARS, LTD., A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; 180 LAND CO., LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; SEVENTY ACRES, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Appellants,

v.

DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE, and STEVE CARIA,

Respondents.

Appeal From the Eighth Judicial District Court, In and for the County of Clark The Honorable Richard F. Scotti & The Honorable Crystal Eller, Presiding District Court Case No.: A-18-771224-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Residents prevailed on their anti-SLAPP motion, as affirmed by this Court. NRS 41.670 required the district court to award the Residents' reasonable attorneys' fees and costs as the prevailing defendants. This Court has confirmed that the Residents are entitled to the statutory fees, remanding only the issue of the reasonableness of the fees awarded under *Brunzell* for the district court to consider. And that is precisely what the district court did. The district court properly found, after conducting a thorough analysis of the *Brunzell* factors, that the Residents' requested fees were reasonable.

But on remand before the district court and in this appeal, the Landowners attempt to raise a new argument that the Residents are not entitled to recover *any* statutory fees because they have not "incurred" attorneys' fees since their counsel defended them on a contingency basis. While the Landowners attempt to raise this as part of the *Brunzell* analysis, this entitlement argument does not go to the *reasonableness* of the *amount* of fees awarded. It has no place in this appeal. The Residents prevailed and they are entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees.

As to the only true issue before this Court—the reasonableness of the attorneys' fees awarded—the Landowners have not shown that the district court abused its discretion. The Residents' requested fees were supported by substantial evidence³ and the Fee Orders thoroughly addressed the *Brunzell* factors before awarding the Residents attorneys' fees.

Because the district court conducted the required *Brunzell* analysis, as this Court directed, and substantial evidence supports the fees awarded, this Court should affirm the Fee Orders.

³ "[E]vidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Winchell v. Schiff*, 124 Nev. 938, 944, 193 P.3d 946, 950 (2008).

VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Landowners' Entitlement Argument is Waived as It Was Raised for the First Time After This Court Entered Its Remand Order Limiting the Scope of the District Court's Review to the *Brunzell* Factors.

In their opposition to the Residents' First Fee Motion, the Landowners argued that "the [Residents] have not paid any legal fees, but instead, the firm representing them, a firm headed by co-conspirator Frank Schreck, is representing them on a 10 APP 1479; 1482; 1489; 1491. contingency fee basis." The Landowners, however, did not argue or ask the district court to deny the Residents' attorneys' fees because they "ha[d] not paid any legal fees" due to their contingency fee agreement with their counsel and thus were not entitled to recover any fees under NRS 41.670.⁴ Instead, the Landowners argued that no lodestar enhancement should be applied and the requested fees were unreasonable. 10 APP 1482. Because they did not contest the Residents' ability to recover any attorneys' fees under NRS 41.670 initially to the district court in opposing the First Fee Motion, the Landowners waived any right to raise it on appeal. Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) (confirming that a point not urged below "is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal").

⁴ The Landowners only claimed that *no* fees should be awarded under NRS 41.670 because the fees requested were "unreasonably inflated in a brazen and transparent (the only thing transparent about their billing) attempt to get revenge on [the Landowners]." 10 APP 1479.

Presumably realizing that they had waived this argument in their initial appeal of the attorneys' fee award, the Landowners did not explicitly ask this Court to reverse the First Fee Order based on the Residents' purported inability to collect any fees due to the contingent nature of the fee agreement with their counsel. The Landowners only challenged the reasonableness of the fees awarded, lamenting that the nature of the contingency agreement "cast[s] serious doubts on the reasonableness" of the requested fees. *See* Appellants' Opening Brief in Consolidated Case Nos. 82338, 82880, at 47-53 (filed Oct. 11, 2021); Appellants' Reply Brief in Consolidated Case Nos. 82338, 82880, at 21-25 (filed Jan. 24, 2022).

Then, when faced with the same attorneys' fees at issue in the First Fee Motion and appeal, the Landowners changed tactics in their motion for reconsideration of the district court's Second Fee Order. Despite that remand was limited to addressing the *Brunzell* factors, the Landowners argued for the first time that *no* fees should be awarded "in the absence of a written contingency agreement" and because the Residents have not "incurred" any fees. 12 APP 1672-1674, 13 APP 1891-1892. The Landowners doubled-down on this waived argument in opposing the Residents' Second Fee Motion. 13 APP 1911, 1914-1916, 1919-1920.

The Landowners had every opportunity to raise their baseless entitlement argument and challenge the Residents' ability to collect fees under NRS 41.670 when it opposed the First Fee Motion. They failed to do so. The Landowners cannot now contest the Residents' right to recover fees under NRS 41.670 after failing to

raise it below.⁵ See Recontrust Co. v. Zhang, 130 Nev. 1, 9, 317 P.3d 814, 819

"The law of a first appeal is the law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quotation marks and citation omitted); Dictor v. Creative Mgmt. Servs., LLC, 126 Nev. 41, 44, 223 P.3d 332, 334 (2010) (providing that for the doctrine to apply, this Court must have actually address[ed] and decide[d] the issue explicitly or by necessary implication"). If the Landowners raised their entitlement argument in the initial appeal, this Court necessarily rejected this argument when it remanded the order granting the Residents' motion for attorneys' fees only on the reasonableness of the amount-not entitlement. Fore Stars, Ltd., 2022 WL 1301754, at *2. This Court determined that the district court "abused its discretion by awarding attorneys fees without making the required findings," instructing the district court on remand "to consider the Brunzell factors and make the necessary findings to support the fee award." Id. The remand order did not direct the district court to reconsider the Residents' ability to collect fees under NRS 41.670. This Court confirmed that it rejected all the Landowners' other arguments when it stated in a footnote that it had considered and concluded that all of the Landowners' other arguments were either not raised on appeal or did not warrant additional relief. Id. at *2 n.7.

This appeal is about the same attorneys' fees at issue in the prior appeal. Thus, if the Landowners contend they are raising the same arguments previously raised based on these same facts, then these arguments have been rejected. Thus, the law of the case controls that the Residents are entitled to recover attorneys' fees as the prevailing defendants under NRS 41.670. *See Dictor*, 126 Nev. at 44, 223 P.3d at 334; *SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, No. 78736, 2020 WL 5637518, at *1 (Sept. 18, 2020) (unpublished disposition). Even if the Landowners' argument regarding entitlement is more developed in the instant appeal, the doctrine still forecloses the Landowners' attempt at a second bite at the apple. *See Hall*, 91 Nev. at 316, 535 P.2d at 799 ("The doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings.").

⁵ To the extent that the Landowners claim they did challenge the Residents' entitlement to fees under NRS 41.670 in opposing the first fees motion and in the initial appeal of the fees order, the law-of-the-case doctrine still precludes these arguments in this appeal.

(2014) ("[A] question that could have been but was not raised on one appeal cannot be resurrected on a later appeal to the same court in the same case." (quoting Wright, Miller & Cooper, 18B Fed. Prac. & Proc. Juris. § 4478.6 (3d ed.)); see also, e.g., Jimenez v. Franklin, 680 F.3d 1096, 1100 (9th Cir. 2012) ("Defendants knew everything they needed to know about their joint and several liability for the attorney fee award at the time of the prior appeal. If they wanted to challenge the joint and several liability, they should have done so at that time. They did not, so the challenge has been waived."); United States v. Parker, 101 F.3d 527, 528 (7th Cir. 1996) ("A party cannot use the accident of a remand to raise in a second appeal an issue that he could just as well have raised in the first appeal because the remand did not affect it."); Munoz v. Imperial Cnty., 667 F.2d 811, 817 (9th Cir. 1982) ("We need not and do not consider a new contention that could have been but was not raised on the prior appeal."); Nw. Indiana Tel. Co. v. F.C.C., 872 F.2d 465, 470 (D.C. Cir. 1989) ("It is elementary that where an argument could have been raised on an initial appeal, it is inappropriate to consider that argument on a second appeal following remand. This widely-accepted rule ... prevents the 'bizarre result' that 'a party who has chosen not to argue a point on a first appeal should stand better as regards the law of the case than one who had argued and lost." (citations omitted)).

The Landowners have thus waived their entitlement argument and the scope of this appeal is limited to the reasonableness of the fees awarded under *Brunzell*.

B. The Scope of Remand was Limited to the Reasonableness of the Fees Awarded Under *Brunzell*.

Since the Landowners only challenged the First Fee Motion and First Fee Order based on the reasonableness of the fees requested, this Court remanded only as to reasonableness, directing the district court to consider the Brunzell factors. Fore Stars, Ltd., 2022 WL 1301754, at *2. Consequently, the scope of remand was, and this appeal is limited to, whether the district court conducted the proper Brunzell analysis, as this Court directed.⁶ State v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., No. 86007, 2023 WL 6781265, at *1 (Nev. Oct. 12, 2023) (unpublished disposition) (recognizing that "after a remand with instructions, the district court must 'enter judgment in conformity with the order of the appellate court, and that order is decisive of the character of the judgment to which the appellant is entitled' and, further, that the district court may not reopen the facts, accept new arguments, or retry the case" (quoting Butler v. Superior Ct., 104 Cal. App. 4th 979, 982 (2002)); 5 C.J.S. Appeal and Error § 1009 ("When an appellate court reverses and remands the cause with a specific mandate, the only proper issue on a second appeal is whether the trial court's order is in accord with the mandate."). The Landowners' post-remand entitlement argument is beyond the scope of remand, and thus should not be considered by this

⁶ The district court correctly concluded in denying the Landowners' motion for reconsideration of the fee award that this Court "remanded this matter to the District Court for the sole purpose of considering the *Brunzell* factors in granting Defendants' request for attorney's fees." 15 APP 2119.

Court.

C. Even if this Court Were to Consider the Landowners' Post-Remand Entitlement Argument, This Argument Still Fails.

Following the American Rule, Nevada allows for attorneys' fees to be awarded only where "a statute, rule, or contract authorizes shifting them from one party to another." Las Vegas Rev.-J. v. Clark Cnty. Off. of the Coroner/Med. Exam'r, 138 Nev. ____, 521 P.3d 1169, 1173 (2022). In the anti-SLAPP context, if a special motion to dismiss is granted, NRS 41.670 provides that the district court "shall award reasonable costs and attorney's fees to the person against whom the action was brought." NRS 41.670(1)(a). By its own language, an award of attorneys' fees under NRS 41.670 is mandatory. See Goudge v. State, 128 Nev. 548, 553, 287 P.3d 301, 304 (2012) ("The use of the word 'shall' in [a] statute divests the district court of judicial discretion."). And this Court's prior decisions confirm that a prevailing defendant is *entitled* to an award of attorneys' fees. See, e.g., Byrd v. Hall Jaffe & Clayton, LLP, Nos. 84827, 85422, 2023 WL 3406582, at *1 (Nev. May, 11 2023) (unpublished disposition) (concluding that "the district court did not abuse its discretion in awarding HJC attorney fees as required by NRS 41.670(1)(a)" (emphasis added)); Smith v. Zilverberg, 137 Nev. 65, 73, 481 P.3d 1222, 1231 (2021) (concluding "that [the legislature] intended to permit a prevailing defendant to recover all reasonable fees and costs" under NRS 41.670(1)(a)); LHF Prods., Inc. v. Kabala, No. 2:16-CV-02028-JAD-NJK, 2019 WL 7403960, at *5 (D. Nev. Dec. 31,

2019), *aff'd sub nom.*, 848 F. App'x 802 (9th Cir. 2021) (stating that "it appears that an award for attorney's fees under NRS §41.670(1)(a), like under California's anti-SLAPP statute, is mandatory"). Thus, the district court did not err in awarding attorneys' fees to the Residents under NRS 41.670.

1. <u>NRS 41.670 does not require that a prevailing defendant</u> have "incurred" fees to be awarded fees.

It is basic tenant of statutory interpretation that "[w]hen construing a statute, this court looks to the words in the statute to determine the plain meaning of the statute, and this court will not look beyond the express language unless it is clear that the plain meaning was not intended." *Hernandez v. Bennett-Haron*, 128 Nev. 580, 595, 287 P.3d 305, 315 (2012). This Court cannot change or add language to a statute; it must give effect to the language used in the statute. *Seaborn v. First Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 55 Nev. 206, 29 P.2d 500, 503 (1934) (confirming that "courts have no authority to eliminate language used in a statute or to change its obvious meaning, but are bound to give effect where possible to all the language used").

The Landowners claim that the district court erred by awarding fees under NRS 41.670 without "determin[ing] whether the attorney's fees it was awarding had been paid or actually incurred by the prevailing party." AOB at 18. But NRS 41.670(1)(a) imposes no such requirement. The statute is clear on its face that if the district court grants a special motion to dismiss, it "shall award reasonable costs and attorney's fees to the person against whom the action was brought." NRS

-19-

41.670(1)(a). The Landowners' argument tries to add the word "incurred" to this statute. Doing so would impose a limitation not otherwise included in the statute, which would change the meaning of the statute beyond its plain terms. That is not this Court's job. *See Holiday Ret. Corp. v. State, DIR*, 128 Nev. 150, 154, 274 P.3d 759, 761 (2012) ("It is the prerogative of the Legislature, not this court, to change or rewrite a statute.").

Critically, the anti-SLAPP statute includes the word "incurred" when referencing attorneys' fees, but in another subsection that applies in a different context than the one at issue here. Whereas NRS 41.670(1)(a) provides for mandatory award of reasonable attorneys' fees (without the "incurred" requirement) to a defendant who prevails on any anti-SLAPP motion, Subsection (2) is quite different. When a defendant files an anti-SLAPP motion that is denied and the district court determines the motion was frivolous or vexations, the plaintiff is entitled to fees, but only those "attorney's fees *incurred* in responding to the motion." NRS 41.670(2) (emphasis added). The legislative history of this statute demonstrates that this is no accident. In 2013, NRS 41.670 was first amended to allow a plaintiff who successfully resists an anti-SLAPP motion to recover attorneys' fees, but only if the district court determines the anti-SLAPP motion was frivolous or vexatious. S.B. 286, 2013 Leg., 77th Sess. (Nev. Mar. 15, 2013). In that amendment, the legislature explicitly included the "incurred" requirement to

that provision. The legislature did not amend Subsection 1(a) to include the same limitation. Thus, this Court "must presume that the inclusion or omission of these words from different parts of the statute was purposeful." *Knickmeyer v. State ex rel. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 133 Nev. 675, 678–79, 408 P.3d 161, 165 (Nev. App. 2017).

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